
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT NASHVILLE 
 
 

FARRAH E. BATA, ) 
Individually in part and in part on behalf of ) 
herself and all other entities and persons ) 
similarly situated, ) Case No. ___________________ 
 ) 
 Plaintiff, ) Removed from Circuit Court of 
  ) Davidson County, State of Tennessee  
v.  ) Case No. 18C774 
  ) JURY DEMAND 
ARROWHEAD CLINIC OF TENNESSEE, ) 
INC., and JOHN DOES 1-10, intending to ) 
refer to those persons, Corporations or  ) 
other legal entities that acted as agents, ) 
consultants, independent contractors or ) 
representatives, ) 
  ) 
 Defendants. ) 

 
 

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

 Defendant, Arrowhead Clinic of Tennessee, Inc. (“Arrowhead”) respectfully removes this 

action to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1441, and 1446.  This action involves claims under the Telephone Consumer 

Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227, so federal question jurisdiction exists.  28 U.S.C. § 1331; Mims 

v. Arrow Fin. Servs., LLC, 565 U.S. 368 (2012).  In support of this Notice of Removal, Arrowhead 

states as follows: 

1. On March 26, 2018, Plaintiff filed a Complaint, commencing a civil action now 

styled Farrah E. Bata, Individually in part and in part on behalf of herself and all other entities 

and persons similarly situated v. Arrowhead Clinic of Tennessee, Inc., and John Does 1-10, 

intending to refer to those persons, Corporations or other legal entities that acted as agents, 
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consultants, independent contractors or representatives, Case No. 18C774, Circuit Court of 

Davidson County, Tennessee (“State Court Action”). 

2. Copies of all process, pleadings, papers, and orders served upon Arrowhead in the 

State Court Action are attached as Exhibits 1 through 3.  28 U.S.C. § 1446(a).   

3. The State Court Action is a civil action within this Court’s original jurisdiction 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  Count I of the Complaint asserts a claim under the Telephone 

Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227, over which this Court has federal question jurisdiction.  

See Mims, 565 U.S. at 386.  Count II, arising out of the same factual allegations, asserts a claim 

for violations of the Tennessee Consumer Protection Act, Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-18-101, et seq., 

over which this Court has supplemental jurisdiction.  28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

4. Venue is appropriate in this Court, as this Court is in the district in which the 

underlying state court action was pending.  28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). 

5. Removal is timely.  Arrowhead’s Registered Agent was personally served on 

March 27, 2018—within thirty days of removal.  28 U.S.C. § 1446(b). 

6. Arrowhead is the only Defendant to have been properly joined and served; 

therefore, there is no other defendant whose consent to removal is required.  28 U.S.C. 

§ 1446(b)(2)(A); cf. Hicks v. Emery Worldwide, Inc., 254 F. Supp.2d 968, 972 n.4 (S.D. Ohio 

2003) (consent of nominal defendants, such as John Does, is not required for removal). 

7. Arrowhead will promptly serve written notice of the removal of the State Court 

Action upon Plaintiff’s counsel and shall file a copy of the Notice with the Clerk of the Circuit 

Court for Davidson County, Tennessee. 

WHEREFORE, Defendant Arrowhead Clinic of Tennessee, Inc. hereby removes the State 

Court Action to this honorable Court. 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 
NEAL & HARWELL, PLC 
 
 
By:  /s/ William T. Ramsey    
 William T. Ramsey, #9245 
 Erik C. Lybeck, #35233  
1201 Demonbreun Street, Ste. 1000 
Nashville, TN  37203 
(615) 244-1713 – Telephone  
(615) 726-0573 – Facsimile  
wtr@nealharwell.com 
elybeck@nealharwell.com 
 
Counsel for Defendant Arrowhead Clinic of 
Tennessee, Inc. 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing has been served by U.S. and electronic mail 

on the following counsel of record, this the 25th day of April, 2018. 

 Joe P. Leniski, Jr, 
 J. Gerard Stranch, IV 
 Anthony A. Orlandi 
 BRANSTETTER, STRANCH & JENNINGS, PLLC 
 The Freedom Center 
 223 Rosa Parks Avenue, Suite 200 
 Nashville, TN  37203 
 (615) 254-8801 
 jleniski@bsjfirm.com  
 gstranch@bsjfirm.com  
 aorlandi@bsjfirm.com 

 Attorneys for Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff 

 

        /s/ William T. Ramsey   

Case 3:18-cv-00392   Document 1   Filed 04/25/18   Page 3 of 3 PageID #: 3



������������	�
��
�� ������������������������������������� �!���"�#$%�"����$&� '#"��$���$"#�$�%��� ��$�$��"�� � �(�#���$� �!)((��'�$"�"���&���$*�#$%�!� ������&�(��#%�$*!�� ��"�� �(#(� !�#!� �+)� �%�,-��#./���0��("�#!( ���%�%�,-����#�� )��!��&���) "	�����!�&� '/�#(( ���%�,-�"����)%���#��1�$&� �$����&�"���2$�"�%��"#"�!��$���("�',� �
34�/��!� �+)� �%�&� �"���)!���&�"���1�� 5��&�1�) "�&� �"��() (�!���&��$�"�#"�$*�"���������%��5�"�!���"	���6788�9:7;<=>;9?:7�?:�:8@;�ABC8�?D�;E97�D?<FGH�IJKLM�N�O��PP� Q�P�OQNO��JRL���1�)$"-��&���!�%�$����&�S� !"�T�!"�%�U�#�$"�&& 1�)$"-��&���!�%�$����&�S� !"�T�!"�%�V�&�$%#$"68@>8A;�9:�=G7G�AWB9:;9DD�>B787H 69:�=G7G�AWB9:;9DD�>B787�?:WXHYZ�[\ ]Y�T̂ YV�1ZYV[_Ŷ �]ZY�1̂ �[�/�2�[��̀ [�TZ1̂ �]ZY�ZS��̀ [���̂ 1��ZS�T̂ YV�]YaZTa[V	JbL���̂""� $�-!�6Dcde�:fegh�Biidgjjh�fki�;glgmnokg�:peqgdH �̂""� $�-!�69r�skotkH��IuN�����P�vw���Q�����O�6Alfxg�fk�y@z�ck�?kg�{o|�?kl}H ���I����~�O���M��P�M��O��MN��MN������6Alfxg�fk�y@z�ck�?kg�{o|�rod�Alfck�crr6Dod��c�gdjc�}�>fjgj�?kl}H fki�?kg�{o|�rod��grgkifk�H��
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CIRCUIT COURT SUMMONS 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
DAVIDSON COUNTY 

20TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

FARRAH E. BATA INDIVIDUALLY IN PART AND IN PART ON 

BEHALF OF HERSELF AND ALL OTHER ENTITIES AND 

PERSONS SIMILARLY SITUATED, 
Plaintiff 

Vs. 

ARROWHEAD CLINIC OF TENNESSEE, INC. AND JOHN 

DOES 1-10, ET AL. 

Defendant 

To the above named Defendant: 

NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 

[8J First 

D Alias 

D Pluries 

Method of Service: 

D Davidson County Sheriff 

0 Out of County Sheriff 

D Secretary of State 

D Certified Mail 

[8] Personal Service 

D Commissioner of Insurance 

You are summoned to appear and defend a civil action filed against you in the Circuit Court, 1 Public Square, Room 302, 
P.O. Box 196303, Nashville, TN 37219-6303, and your defense must be made within thirty (30) days from the date this 
summons is served upon you. You are further directed to file your defense with the Clerk of the Court and send a copy to 
the Plaintiff's attorney at the address listed below. 

In case of your failure to defend this action by the above date, judgment by default will be rendered against you for the 

? I 1 RICHARD R. ROOKER 
relief demanded in thi comp/laint. 

ISSUED: .:;) d"/! /<i c1rcu1tcourtcleik 
Davidson County, Tennessee 

By: u~ 
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF JOE P. LENISKI, JR./J. GERARD STRANCH, IV/ANTHONY A. ORLANDI 

or 
223 ROSAL PARKS AVE., SUITE 200 
MuureSS 

PLAINTIFF'S ADDRESS NASHVILLE, TN 37203 

TO THE SHERIFF: 

Please execute this summons and make your return hereon as provided by law. 

Received this summons for service this _ ___ day of ______ , 20 __ . 

RICHARD R. ROOKER 
Circuit Court Clerk 

SHERIFF 

ti To request an ADA accommodation, please contact Dart Gore at (615) 880-3309. 
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?OIR MaR ?6 PM 3: 46 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DA'VIDSON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 

AT NAS;u:v;ILLE. .; . - •: ·, .. · :. ~:. 

FARRAH E. BATA, 
individually in part and in part on behalf of-----\4-=-~,.,..­
herself and all other entities and 
persons similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

ARROWHEAD CLINIC OF TENNESSEE, ) 
INC, and JOHN DOES 1-10, intending to refer ) 
to those persons, Corporations or other legal ) 
entities that acted as agents, consultants, ) 
independent contractors or representatives, ) 

Defendants. 
) 
) 

CIV. NO. ( ¥ C. I I <-( 
JURY DEMAND 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF U1\1DER THE 
TELEPHONE CONSm,(ER PROTECTION ACT, 47 U.S.C. § 227, AND VIOLATIONS 

OF THE TENNESSEE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT, TENN. CODE ANN. § 47-18-
104 

COMES now PlaintiffiRepresentative Plaintiff Fanah E. Bata, in part on behalf of herself 

and in part on behalf of herself and all other persons or entities sin1ilarly situated, as 

Representative Plaintiff in part and in part as Plaintiff, and files this Complaint against the 

Defendants Arrowhead Clinic of Tennessee, Inc. ("Arrowhead") and John Does 1-10. 

Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff brings this Complaint to stop Defendants ' practice of sending 

unsolicited text messages to the cellular telephones of Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff and 

others in the class using an automatic telephone dialing system ("ADTS") without their prior 

express consent, and to obtain redress for all persons so injured by Defendants. 

Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff further brings this action on her own behalf to stop Defendants' 

practice of violating the Tennessee Consumer Protection Act by fraudulently misrepresenting 

their identity and their services Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff. For her Complaint, 

1 
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Plaintiffi'Representative Plaintiff alleges as follows upon personal knowledge as to herself and 

her own acts and experiences, and, as to all other matters, upon information and belief, including 

investigation conducted by her attorneys and would respectfully show the Court as follows: 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff Fanah E. Bata is a Tennessee citizen residing in 

Clarksville, Tennessee. Hereinafter, Fanah E. Bata will be refened to in her individual capacity 

as "Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff' or "Plaintiff' or "Representative Plaintiff." 

2. Defendant AlTowhead Clinic of Tennessee, Inc. is, upon information and belief, a 

Tennessee corporation, having an address of 1148 Gallatin Pike S, Madison, Tennessee 37115-

4611. The registered agent is listed as AlTOwhead Clinic of Tennessee at the same ptincipal 

address. 

3. Defendants John Does 1-10 represent those persons, corporations, or other legal 

entities that acted as agents, consultants, independent contractors or representatives of Defendant 

J & J and/or who assisted them in creating, publishing, broadcasting and faxing the documents 

received on the fax machine by Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff, whose identities at this time are 

unknown but will be substituted by amendment when ascertained. 

4. The claims of the class of persons represented by the Representative Plaintiff aiise 

pursuant to the provisions of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. § 227 

(hereinafter, "TCPA"). 

5. The claims of Plaintiff anse pursuant to the provisions of the Tennessee 

Consumer Protection Act, Tenn. Code Ann.§ 47-18-104. 

6. This Cami has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-2-

223, and service will be completed in accordance with Tenn. R. Civ. Pro. 4.05. This Court has 

jurisdiction over the Defendants pursuant to Tem1. Code Ann. § 20-2-201/20-2-223 and because 

2 
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at all relevant times, the conduct complained of arises out of business they conducted in 

Tennessee. 

7. Venue is proper in this County pmsuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-4-102 in that 

the at least one of the parties to this proceeding has it's principle place of business in this County 

and some of the events, if not all, leading to the filing of this suit arose out an automobile 

accident that occurred in Davidson County. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

8. On March 6, 2018, Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff was in an automobile 

accident and sought medical treatment at one of Tennova's medical facilities in Clarksville, 

Tennessee, which prior to joining the Community Health Systems network in January 2016, was 

a healthcare provider known as Gateway Medical Center. On her intake papers, 

Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff listed her cellular telephone number as her contact number; 

however, nowhere either orally or in writing did Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff give Tennova 

or any other third-party permission to send her marketing messages to that cell phone number. 

9. On or about March 8, 2018, Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff received, on her cell 

phone, a series of text from the phone number (615) 881-6711 stating: "Kortney here with 

Gateway Medical scheduling office for Arrowhead Clinic." The text then went on to state two 

different addresses of Alrowhead Clinic and "only thing you need to bring is yom ID." as well as 

"if you're hurting go ahead and come on in with absolutely no cost to you." The second text 

message, which immediately followed the first, provided a URL address of the Alrowhead Clinic 

website. On or about March 12, 2018, Representative Plaintiff received, on her cell phone, a 

text from the same phone number which directly replicated the previous texts sent on March 8, 

2018, suggesting that it was sent via ADTS. 

3 
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10. Copies of the text messages that Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff received are 

attached hereto as Exhibit A 

11. Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff then reached out to the number on the text 

message, which was answered by "Kortney" who declared she was "with A.now head Clinic." 

12. Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff has, and at all relevant times had, a cellular 

telephone with text messaging capabilities. Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff receives text 

messages ("texts") at the cell number associated with that cellular telephone. 

12. Defendant Arrowhead is a Tennessee for-profit entity, which offers chiropractic 

and other pain relief treatment to citizens of the States of Tennessee, Georgia and the 

smrounding region. Defendant Anowhead advenises its services on television, has an internet 

website, blog, and online attorney refenal portal, and encourages individuals to "CALL NOW!" 

at 800-961-P A.IN. 

COUNT 1 
VIOLATION OF THE TCPA, 47 USC §227 

(ON BEHALF OF REPRESENTATIVE PLAINTIFF AND THE CLASS) 

13. All of the preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if set fo1th fully 

forth herein. 

14. Defendants and/or their agents sent unsolicited text messages via ATDS to 

cellular telephone numbers belonging to Representative Plaintiff and the Class en masse without 

their prior express consent. 

15. Defendants sent the text messages, or had them sent on its behalf, to 

Representative Plaintiff and the Class using equipment that had the capacity to store or produce 

telephone numbers to be called using a random or sequential number generator, and to dial such 

numbers. 
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A. TCPA Prohibits Robotext Messages Send Via ADTS Without Prior Express 
Consent 

16. Congress passed the TCP A to protect individual consumers from receiving 

intrnsive and unwanted calls. See Mims v. Arrow Fin. Servs., LLC, U.S. , 132 S. Ct. 740, 

745, 181 L. Ed. 2d 881 (2012); see also Pub. L. 102-243, § 2, ,r,r 5-6, 9-10, 13-14, 105 Stat 2394 

(1991) (Congress' findings that automated calls and prerecorded messages are a "nuisance," an 

"invasion of privacy," and "when an emergency or medical assistance telephone line is seized, a 

risk to public safety."). 

17. Tl!e tenn "call" under the TCPA and its promulgating regulations includes text 

messages. See Rules and Regulation Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 

1991, CG Docket No. 02-278, Repo1t and Order, 18 FCC Red 14014, 14115, para. 165 (2003) 

(2003 TCP A Order). 

18. The three elements of a TCPA claim are: (1) the defendant called a cellular 

telephone number; (2) using an automatic telephone dialing system; (3) without the recipient's 

prior express consent. 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(l). 

19. The Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") is empowered to implement 

rules and regulations meant to promulgate the TCP A, including the meaning of "prior express 

consent." 

20. Under the TCPA and its promulgating regulations, nonprofit, tax-exempt entities 

may send unsolicited text messages to a cellular telephone number so long as there is no 

commercial message (i.e. the message is non-telemarketing, informational in nature) and it has 

received prior express consent to send such text message. The prior express consent required in 

this provision can be verbal and does not have to be in writing. 

21. The FCC has stated that even if consumers provide their telephone number for 
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legitimate, non-telemarketing purpose, the consumers do not expect to receive calls "that go 

beyond the limited purpose for which ... consent may have been granted." 27 FCC Red. at 1839. 

22. Upon information and belief, Defendants sent the unsolicited text messages at 

issue to the cell phone of Representative Plaintiff and of the other putative Class members in an 

effort to advertise their services without first obtaining prior express consent, using an ADTS, all 

without the consent of either the Representative Plaintiff or the Class members, in violation of 

the TCPA. 

23. Neither Representative Plaintiff, nor the other members of the Class, ever gave 

prior express consent to have Defendants send the unsolicited text messages at issue to their cell 

phones. 

24. Furthe1111ore, Defendants did not affo111atively obtain the necessary prior express 

consent before sending the illegal text messages at issue to the cellular telephone numbers of 

Representative Plaintiff or the Class. 

25. By illegally contacting Representative Plaintiff via her cellular telephone with the 

text messages at issue without her express consent, Defendants caused her actual harm, including 

invading her privacy, causing her to incur reduced telephone time and capacity for which she had 

previously paid by having to retrieve or administer the Defendants' illegal text messages, as well 

as the aggravation, nuisance, and harassment that necessarily accompanies the receipt of 

unsolicited, serial text messages. 

26. In response to Defendants' unlawful conduct, Representative Plaintiff files the 

instant lawsuit seeking to enjoin Defendants from sending unsolicited text message activities and 

an award of actual and statutory damages to the members of the Class under the TCPA, trebled 

due to their willful and knowing conduct, together with costs and reasonable attorneys' fees. 
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B. Representative Plaintiff and the Class Have a Valid Claim for Relief 

27. Paragraph (3) of 47 U.S.C. § 227(b) provides: 

(3) Private right of action 

A person or entity may, if othe1wise pennitted by the laws or mies of court of a 
State, bring in an appropriate court of that State-

(A) an action based on a violation of this subsection or the regulations 
prescribed under this subsection to enjoin such violation, 

(B) an action to recover for actual monetary loss from such a violation, or to 
receive $500 in damages for each such violation, whichever is greater, or, 

(C) both such actions. 

If the court finds that the defendant willfully or knowingly violated this 
subsection or the regulations prescribed under this subsection, the court may, in 
its discretion, increase the amount of the award to an amount equal to not more 
than 3 times the amount available under s'ubparagraph (B) of this paragraph. 

28. The texts received by Representative Plaintiff and the Class from Defendants 

were unsolicited. 

29. Representative Plaintiff and the Class did not give any p1ior express consent, 

verbal or otherwise, to receive the texts described herein and displayed in Exhibit A. 

30. Defendants, and/or their employees and/or its agents, created the texts, including 

the substance of the texts, in Exhibit A and had the capability to control the contents thereof. 

31 . Defendants, and/or their employees and/or their agents, determined the telephone 

numbers to which the texts in Exhibit A were sent to the Representative Plaintiff and other 

recipients. 

32. Upon infom1ation and belief, Defendants sent the texts in Exhibit A to thousands 

of cell phone numbers located in or around Tennessee. 

33. Said transmissions of texts in Exhibit A were made for the prnpose of advertising 
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the services available from Defendants. 

34. Representative Plaintiff further alleges that in each instance that a text message 

was sent, Defendants did so willfully or knowingly. 

35. Representative Plaintiff fw.ther alleges on info1mation and belief that in each 

instance Defendants had actual notice of participation, or a high degree of involvement, in a plan 

to transmit unsolicited texts to cell phones by, for example, participating in preparing their 

content, providing or obtaining the cell phone numbers of Representative Plaintiff or other Class 

recipients, and knowing that Representative Plaintiff or other Class recipients had not authorized 

the texts to be sent by prior express invitation or permission. 

36. Representative Plaintiff therefore alleged that Defendants violated 47 U.S.C. § 

227. 

C. Class Action Allegations 

37. Representative Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to Tenn. R. Civ. Pro. 23 on 

behalf of themselves and the following classes (the "Class") defined as follows: 

All individuals in the United States who received text message to their cellular 
telephone without that individual's prior express consent offering the recipient a 
free visit to an Arrowhead Clinic location. 

38. Excluded from the Class are: (1) Defendants and any entity in which Defendants 

has a controlling interest, and their legal representatives, officers, directors, assignees, and 

successors, and any co-conspirators; and (2) any judge or justice to whom this action is assigned, 

together with any relative of such judge or justice within the third degree of relationship, and the 

spouse of any such person. 

39. Upon info1mation and belief, Representative Plaintiff alleges that unsolicited, 
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texts sent on behalf of the Defendants for promotional purposes have been transmitted to 

hundreds if not thousands of cellular telephones in and around Tem1essee without their prior 

express consent through an intentional and persistent course of conduct. Each such transmission 

constitutes a separate violation of the TCPA. Because the Class members are dispersed and are 

believed to number in the hundreds if not thousands, individual joinder is impractical in 

satisfaction of Tenn. R. Civ. Pro. 23.01. The disposition of the claims of the Class members in a 

single action will provide substantial benefits to all paiiies and to the Court. 

40. Representative Plaintiffs claims are typical of the claims of the Class, as required 

by Tenn. R. Civ. Pro. 23 in that Representative Plaintiff received an unsolicited text without her 

consent from Defendant promoting Defendants' services during the proposed Class Pe1iod. 

41. The factual and legal bases of Defendants' misconduct are common to all 

members of the Class and represent a common cause of injury to Representative Plaintiff and the 

Class members. 

42. Nun1erous questions of law and fact are common to the Class and predominate 

over questions affecting only individual Class members, as required by Tenn. R. Civ. Pro. 23 .02. 

Such common questions including, but are not limited to: 

1. Whether Defendants' conduct constitutes a violation of the TCPA; 

11. whether the equipment Defendant used to transmit the text messages in question 
was an automatic telephone dialing system as contemplated by the TCP A; and 

111. whether Defendants obtained prior express consent to send the text messages in 
question; and 

1v. whether Class members are entitled to treble damages based on the willfulness of 
Defendants' conduct. 

43. Representative Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the Class because 

they arise from the same course of conduct by Defendants and the relief sought is common. 
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44. The Class is ascertainable, as the Class is defined using objective criteria and 

Class Members who received unsolicited texts from Defendants without their consent are easily 

identifiable based on existing telephone and other business records. 

45. Representative Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the 

Interests of the Class, as required by Tenn. R. Civ. Pro. 23.01. Moreover, Representative 

Plaintiff has retained counsel with substantial experience in the prosecution of nationwide class 

actions. Representative Plaintiff and her counsel are committed to the vigorous prosecution of 

this action on behalf of the Class and have the financial resources to do so. Neither 

Representative Plaintiff nor their counsel has any interests adverse to those of the Class. 

46. By sending the m1s0Iicited text messages to the Representative Plaintiff and the 

Class, Defendants have violated 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(l)(A)(iii). As a result of Defendants' 

unlawful conduct, the members of the Class suffered actual damages in the form of invasion of 

privacy, certain charges or reduced telephone time and capacity for which they had previously 

paid by having to retrieve or administer the Defendants' illegal text messages, as well as the 

aggravation, nuisance and harassment that necessarily accompanies the receipt of unsolicited, 

serial text messages. Under section 227(b)(3)(B) are each entitled to, inter alia, a minimum of 

$500.00 in damages for each such violation of the TCPA, plus additional actual damages as may 

be appropriate. 

47. Should the Court detem1ine that Defendants' conduct was willful and knowing, 

the Court may, pursuant to section 227(b)(3)(C), treble the amount of damages recoverable by 

Representative Plaintiff and the other members of the Class. 
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COUNT II 
VIOLATIONS OF THE TENNESSEE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT, 

TENN. CODE ANN.§ 47-18-104 
(ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF INDIVIDUALLY) 

48. All of the preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully 

forth herein. 

49. Under the Tennessee Consumer Protection Act of 1977 ("TennCPA"), Tenn. 

Code Ann. § 47-18-104 et seq, prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices affecting trade or 

commerce in this state. 

50. Under the Tenn.CPA, it is an unfair or deceptive act or practice to falsely pass off 

goods or services as those of another. The Defendants falsely represented to the Plaintiff in the 

text messages that they were associated with "Gateway Medical", the f01mer owner of Tennova 

where Plaintiff was seen for her injuries related to the automobile accident. These false 

representations occuned as a result of events arising out of the automobile accident in Davidson 

County. Tenn. Code Ann.§ 47-18-104(1). 

51. Under the TennCP A, it is also unlawful to cause likelihood of confusion or of 

misunderstanding as to the source, sponsorship, approval or certification of goods or se1vices. 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 47-18-104(2). The Defendants falsely represented to the Plaintiff in the text 

messages that they were associated with "Gateway Medical", the fom1er owner of Tenn.ova 

where Plaintiff was seen for her injuries related to the automobile accident. 

52. Under the TennCP A, it is also unlawful to cause likelihood of confusion or 

misunderstanding as to affiliation, connection or association with, or certification by, another. 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 47-18-104(3). 

53. Under the TennCPA, it is also unlawful to Using deceptive representations or 
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designations of geographic origin in connection with goods or services Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-

18-104(4). 

54. Under the TennCPA, it is also unlawful to represent that "goods or services have 

sponsorship, approval, [or] characteristics" that they do not have or that "a person has a 

sponsorship approval, status, affiliation or connection that such person does not have." Tenn. 

Code Ann.§ 47-18-104 (5). Here, the Defendants represented by act or omission that their pain 

management services are associated with Gateway Medical Center/Tennova, or that physicians at 

Gateway Medical Center/Tennova prescribed their services to the Plaintiff. 

55. Under the TennCPA, it also unlawful to "us[e] statements or illustrations in any 

advertisement which create a false impression of the grade, quality, quantity, make, value, age, 

size, color, usability or origin of the goods or services offered, or which may otherwise 

misrepresent the goods or services in such a ma1U1er. that later, on disclosure of the true facts, 

there is a likelihood that the buyer may be switched from the advertised goods or services to 

other goods or services." Here, Defendants represented that they were with Gateway Medical 

Center/Tennova, and that the pain management services being offered in the text messages 

originated with or were sponsored by Gateway Medical Center/Tennova, when in reality, the text 

messages being received by Plaintiff were being sent by Defendants and lacked any origin or 

sponsorship by Gateway Medical Center/Tennova. 

56. Under the TennCPA, it is also unlawful to represent that a service, replacement or 

repair is needed when it is not. Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-18-104 (13). 

57. Under the TennCPA, it is also unlawful to engage in any other act or practice 

which is deceptive to the consumer or to any other person. Tenn. Code Alm.§ 47-18-104 (27). 

58. As a direct and proximate result of each of the Defendants' TCPA violations, the 
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Plaintiffs have suffered damages. 

59. Accordingly, the Plaintiff is entitled to recover all actual and statutory damages 

sustained as a result of the Defendants' unfair and deceptive practices in violation of the 

TennCPA. 

60. The Defendants committed all of these Tenn CPA violations willfully and 

knowingly. The Defendants acted in bad faith. Therefore, the Plaintiff is entitled to treble 

damages under Tenn. Code Ann.§ 47-18-109(a)(3). 

61. Under Tenn. Code Ann. § 4 7-1 8-109( e )( 1 ), the Plaintiff is also entitled to 

recover reasonable attorney's fees from the Defendants. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Representative Plaintiff respectfully prays for the following relief: 

a. An Order certifying the claims of the Representative Plaintiff and all other 

persons similarly situated as a Class and Subclass as defined above under the Telephone 

Consumer Protection Act, and appointing Representative Plaintiff and her counsel as Class 

representatives and Class counsel, respectively; 

b. An award of actual and statutory damages; 

c. An award to Plaintiff(s) of treble damages; 

d. An injunction requiting Defendants to cease all unsolicited text message 

activities, and othe1wise protecting the interests of the Class; 

e. An injunction requiring Defendants to cease the multiple violations of the 

Tennessee Consumer Protection Act as outlined above; 

f. An award of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs; 

g. Trial by jury as to all issues so triable; and 
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g. Other and further relief as is just and equitable under the circumstances. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury as to all issues in the 

above matter. 

DATED: March 26, 2018 Respectfully submitted, 

,;} 
( t 

e ~Le~, J ., BPR N 2891 
eferard Stranch, IV, BP No. 23045 

Anthony A. Orlandi, BPR No. 33988 
BRANSTETTER, STRANCH &JENNINGS, PLLC 
The Freedom Center 
223 Rosa Parks Avenue, Suite 200 
Nashville, Tennessee 3 7203 
(615) 254-8801 
jleniski@bsjfirm.com 
gstranch@bsjfirm.com 
aorlandi@bsjfirm.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Representative Plaintiff 
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Medical scheduling office for 

Arrowhead Clinic 
5511 Edmondson Pike, Suite 
205 
Nashville TN 37211 
615-679-9149 

Arrowhead Clinic 
1148 Gallatin Pike South 
Madison TN 37115 
615-454-4843 

Office hours 9-7pm with lunch 
from 1-3 

Only thing you need to bring is 
your ID . 
If you're hurting go ahead and 
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CIRCUIT COU NASHVI TENNESSEE

Flnt
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I.STATE OF TENNESSEE
DAVIDSON COUNTY'

2OTTI JUDICIAL DISTRICT
! ntias

fJ rturi"t

3äå'-ê?i3i txctt(l
Mothod of SeMcs:

! Davldson County Slærlfr

f Out otCounty Sherifi

I Seøetaryofstate

I ceøn"auau

lÍl Personal Service

! Commlseloner of lnsurance

P

PERSONS SIMILARLY SITUATED,

ARROWHEAD CLINIC OF TENN ESSEE, INC. AND JOHN

DOES l-l O, ETAL.

lJefendant

To lhe above named Oefendant:

ON

Vs.

Þr t,úl¿
Iof lt st¡91-o_n9d to sppeer and def€nd ¡ cMt scdon flled agalnet you ln tfie Clrcuft Gourt, I pubflc Square, Room 302,
P.O. Box 1901103, Nashvllle, TN.37219{303, and your defenaeirust be ma¿e wlthln thtrty 1iö¡ aays trom tho date ftls
1urytgn1ls selvsd upon_lrou, _Yg, at9 fuñhardlroc'tåd to flle your defenee wlth ttre Cle*'of ine êourt and eend a copy ro
the Plalntlffs attomey at lhe addÈs¡ llsûed below.

Y -'r -3''.
to dcfend thisäctlon by tlre ebove date, fudginent
côm

ISSUED:

By:

JOE P. LENISKI JR./J. GERARD

223 ROSA L PARKS SUITE 2OO

NASHVILLE, TN 37203

TOTHE SHERIFF:

Pleâs€ ôx€cutê thls summons and make your return herson as provlded by law;

Recelved this summone for eervice this _ day of 20-.

by defeult wlll be rendered agalnst you for the

RICHARD R. ROOKER
Gtrcuit Çoun ctêrl(

County,

NY A. ORLANBI

E

RICHARD R. ROOKER
utrcurt uoun Glefk

SHERIFF
To roquost rn ADA Nccommodsflon, ploaso contsct oarr Gore at (01il gæ,3s0g.

ATTORNEYFOR PLAINTIFF

.or

PLAINTIFF'S ADDRESS
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copy

REIURN ON PERSONAL SERVICE OF SUMMONS

I hereby cerlify and retum that on the day of

serued this summons and complainUpetition on

2?ï^ ,o-lÈ,,
a

\nc.
in the following manner:

\ c
failed to serve thls within 90 añer its iseuance because

( 3tø lr¡l^.r\
Sherlfi/Process Server *

RETURN ON SERVICE OF SUMMONS BY MAIL

I h€reby csrtify snd retum, thât on th€ day of ,20 I B€nt, poEtãge prepaid by

registered return receipt mail or cerüfled retum receipt mail, a certified copy of the summons and a copy of the compla¡nt in Docket No.

to the defêndent, On the day of

_, I recelved the retum receipt for said regietered or certifled mail, whlch had been slgned

by on the day of
'20 Sald reù¡m

recelpt ls attaóed to this orlglnal Bumrnons and both documente are being eent harewith to the C¡rcult Court Clerk forfiling.

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEFORE ME ON THIS

DAY OF 20_. ATTORNEY ËR PERSON

AUTHORIZED BY STATUTË TO SER1Æ PROCESS

_NOTARY PUBLIC or_DEPUIY CLERK

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:

NOÏCE
TO THE DEFENDANT(S):

Tennossêe law Þrovlds8 I lon thou8snd dollar ($10,000.00) dobtor'B €qulty int€r€ot
p€rsoflal pfopôrty exemptlon from exocution or B€izuro to sat¡sry a judgmont, tf € ¡udgm€nt
should be entorod agalnet yor¡ ln thls ac{on and you wlsh to dalm property aE €xempt, you
must file a E'd[en l¡sl. under oath, of the lterrn you wlsh lo dalm as sxompt with the clork of
the court. The llst may be flled at any tlma and may be danged by you th€r€aft€r as n€cass8ry;
howevsr, unless lt le filort bofore lhe judgment bocomos flnal, it will not b€ ôfi€c{ive as to any
exeanlion or gambhmerü lssued p¡lor to ths fillng of the lbt, Cortah lt€mg qrs automst¡cally
sxgmpt by law and do not need to b€ llstôd; those lncludo items of necosssry wearing apparel
(cloülng) for younself and ¡our femily and trunks orother roceptacloo necor¡sary to contsln suc{r
apparel. family portraits, ths famlly Bible, and sohool books, Should any ol trese items b€ s6lz6d,
you ttrcuH ho\rs th€ rlght to recover lhem. lf you do not underotand your exemplion right or ho,r,
to exerds€ ft, you may nßh lo sé6k tfi6 couneel d a law!¡e¡.

ATTACH

RETURN

RECE,PT

HERE

(IF APPLICABLE)

STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF DAVIDSON

(lo be completêd only lf
copy c€rtlfi cation required.)

I, Rlúerd R. Rooker, Clerfi of the Clrcu¡t Court ln the Stâte and County aforesald,
do hereby cærtifu this to be a true and conect copy of thê oñginel summons lssued
ln th¡s csse.

RICHARD R, ROOKER, CLERK

By: D.C.
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